#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

000

PATRICIA ANTHONY; and WILLIAM ANTHONY,

Appellants,

VS.

FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION,

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Elizabeth A. Brown Supreme Courclerk of Supreme Court

**Electronically Filed** 

Apr 15 2020 04:09 p.m.

Respondent.

MICHAEL LEHNERS, ESQ. 429 Marsh Ave. Reno, Nevada 89509 Nevada Bar Number 003331 (775) 786-1695 email michaellehners@yahoo.com Attorney for Appellants PATRICIA ANTHONY and WILLIAM ANTHONY

#### I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This matter came before the District Court on competing motions for summary judgment. The matter was argued on July 8, 2019. On July 10, 2019 the District Court issued an order that granted Respondent's motions and denied the Appellants' motions. On July 10, 2019 the District Court issued its order after hearing. (Appendix No. 16).

On July 24, 2019 the Appellants filed a notice of appeal with respect to the July 10, 2019 order after hearing.

The order after hearing directed counsel for Respondent to prepare proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law. Respondent filed these findings on August 16, 2019 (Appendix 18)

On January 20, 2020 this Court issued an order to show cause why the appeal should not be dismissed (OSC). The basis was the July 24, 2019 notice of appeal only appealed the July 10, 2019 order after hearing.

On February 18, 2020 Appellants filed a response to the OSC. Because no one filed a notice of entry of the August 16, 2019 findings of fact and conclusions of law, the Appellants, filed an amended notice of appeal on February 11, 2020. The amended notice of appeal referenced both the July 10, 2019 order after hearing and the August 16, 2019 findings (Appendix 20).

On February 25, 2020 this Court entered an order allowing the Appeal to proceed. The Appellants were given 60 days from February 25, 2020 to file their opening brief.

The July 10, 2019 order after hearing and/or the August 16, 2019 findings are final orders. These are appealable determinations pursuant to Nev. R. App. Pro. 3A(b).

## **II. ROUTING STATEMENT**

This matter falls under the original jurisdiction of the Supreme Court. The issues raised in this appeal are matters of first impression. Specifically, whether or not a lender who has foreclosed on real property violates Article Nine of the Uniform Commercial Code when it files a transfer statement to obtain title to personal property located on the property (a manufactured home) and thereafter converts it to real property which the lender already owned. Matters raising as a principal issue a question of first impression of common law may be decided by the Supreme Court under Nev. R. App. Pro. 17(a)(13).

## **III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

- A. Did the District Court commit error when it found the Respondent properly foreclosed on the property, including the manufactured home?
- B. Did the District Court commit error in denying the Appellant's claim for conversion of the manufactured home because the Respondent had already obtained title and possession of the property through its non-judicial foreclosure proceeding?
- C. If any of the counterclaims plead by the Appellants were time barred, did the District Court err by

refusing the Appellants to assert the defense of recoupment?

# IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 2, 2017 the Respondent filed a complaint for trespass and injunctive relief (Appendix 1). On May 21, 2017 the Appellants filed an answer and counterclaim (Appendix 2). The counterclaim plead three claims for relief: (1) Statutory damages under Article Nine of the Uniform Commercial Code; (2) Conversion and (3) Excessive attachment/abuse of process.

On June 11, 2018 the parties entered into a stipulation regarding injunctive relief where the Appellants would pay a fixed monthly sum to Respondent in order to remain on the property (Appendix 8).

On April 19, 2019 Appellants filed their motion for partial summary judgment (Appendix 10). On April 26, 2019 Respondent filed its motion for summary judgment (Appendix 11). Each party filed their respective oppositions and replies with respect to each motion (Appendix Items 12 through 15).

The District Court then set the matter to be argued on July 8, 2019. A transcript of that hearing has been made part of the record (Appendix 21).

On July 10, 2019 the Court issued its order granting the Respondent's motion and denying the Appellants' motion (Appendix 16). On August 16, 2019 the District Court entered its findings of fact, conclusions of law and order (Appendix 18). This appeal followed.

#### V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Appellants reside at 3705 Anthony Place, Sun Valley, Nevada (The Residence). On June 21, 2002 the Appellants executed a note in favor of Commerce Mortgage Company in the face amount of \$224,400.00 (Appendix Bates 86-88). This loan was secured with a deed of trust on The Residence (Appendix Bates 90- 103). The deed of trust was recorded on June 26, 2002. The deed of trust described the collateral in relevant part as:

Real property with the address of 3705 Anthony Place, Sun Valley, Nevada together with all the improvements now or hereafter erected on the property"

(Appendix Bate 092)

The Appellants defaulted on this obligation. On March 30, 2012 Respondent recorded a notice of trustee's sale (Appendix Bate 105). The sale date was April 23, 2012. On April 26, 2012 Respondent recorded a trustee's deed upon sale. It reflects the fact that the Grantee was the beneficiary, and that it had bid \$245,677.85 (Appendix Bate 114).

Eviction attempts were unsuccessful, and Respondent eventually filed a complaint for trespass and injunctive relief (Appendix 1).

At the time of the foreclosure, the Appellants had a 1996 FUQUA Eagle Mobile Home on the real property. This mobile home had not been converted to real property. See NRS 361.244. At

that time, it was classified as personal property that had been placed on the real property.

Sometime prior to July 27, 2018 Anthony served a subpoena upon the Department of Manufactured Housing with respect to all records regarding a 1996 FUQUA Eagle Mobile Home with serial number 15233AC. A true and correct copy of those records was attached to the Appellants' motion for summary judgment as Exhibit "3" (Appendix Bates 106-144). These are the facts that those records revealed:

- On November 18, 2015 attorneys for the Respondent sent the Nevada Department of Manufactured Housing a letter informing it that they wanted to convert the Manufactured Home to real property (Appendix Bate 112)
- 2. On September 16, 2015, Respondent signed an application for duplicate ownership certificate with respect to the FUQUA manufactured home. The application was submitted on November 19, 2015. The application identified the Appellants as the registered owners, and that Respondent held a lien on the FUQUA (Appendix 113).
- 3. In support of Respondent's application, it submitted a copy of the Trustee's deed upon sale that had been recorded on April 26, 2012 (Appendix Bate 114-116).
- 4. Respondent also enclosed a copy of the June 21, 2002 deed of trust (Appendix Bate 120-132)

- 5. On September 16, 2015 Respondent signed an affidavit, application for certificate of ownership of the FUQUA. This affidavit was submitted on November 19, 2015 (Appendix Bates 117-118). It stated that the structure was obtained on or about April 24, 2012 by a foreclosure, Id. 117. It asked the new certificate to show Respondent as the new registered owner with no lienholder. Id 118.
- 6. On November 23, 2015 the Department issued a new title to Respondent showing it as the registered owner of the FUQUA with no lienholder (Appendix Bate 109).
- 7. On October 15, 2015 the Respondent filed an affidavit of conversion of manufactured home to real property. The recording of this affidavit caused the FUQUA to become party of the real property located at 3705 Anthony Place, Sun Valley, Nevada (Appendix Bate 134).

## VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Appellants' arguments are simple, and they are based upon the causes of action contained in the counterclaim (Appendix Bates 033-041).

NRS 104.610(2) says in relevant part that every aspect of a disposition of collateral, including the method, manner, time, place and other terms, must be commercially reasonable.

NRS 104.9625(1), (2) and (3) sets forth the damages available, in consumer good transactions, when there is noncompliance by the secured creditor. The damages depend upon

whether the secured creditor violated a provision of Section Six of Article Nine or some other section of Article Nine.

NRS 104.625(3)(b) applies only if the secured creditor violated a provision of Section Six of Article Nine. Those are Article Nine's statutory damages. It is a formula. The damages are 10% of the amount financed plus all the interest that would have been paid over the life of the loan.

The Anthony note was in the face amount of \$214,400.00. Interest is 6.75%. The term is 30 years. When amortized, the loan will yield \$285,680.00 of interest over the 30 year period. When added to 10% of the amount financed, the damages total \$307,120.00.

In the event that a creditor violated a provision of Article Nine, other than Section Six, NRS 104.625(1) and (2) allow injunctive relief and the recovery of actual damages. See Drafter's Comment 2 and 4 to NRS 104.9625.

Based upon this statutory scheme, the Appellants first claim for relief seeks damages under the statutory formula described in NRS 104.625(3)(b).

The Appellants' second claim for relief is for conversion.

The third, and final, claim for relief is for abuse of process in the form of excessive attachment. That claim is based upon *Nevada Credit Rating Bureau, Inc. v. Williams*, 88 Nev. 601, 503 P.2d 9, (Nev. 1972).

In this case the statutory damages in NRS 104.9625(3)(b) are based upon the Respondent's sale to itself of the manufactured home on September 16, 2015 without notice. It

was a private sale since the FUQUA was not advertised for sale in an auction open to the public.

The Respondent argued the sale of the manufactured home took place on April 24, 2012, which was when the trustee's deed upon sale was signed. That sale date is contradicted by three facts contained in the Record on Appeal.

- 1. At the time of the foreclosure, the FUQUA was personal property. It became real property on October 15, 2015 which is when the Respondent recorded its affidavit of conversion in the Washoe County Recorder's office. (Appendix Bate 134). The sale of personal property is accomplished by a certificate of title. Personal property cannot be transferred by a land deed unless it had already been converted to real property when the deed was signed.
- 2. The notice of trustee's sale expressly references the real property located at 3705 Anthony Place. The FUQUA is not even mentioned (Appendix Bate 105).
- 3. The trustee's deed upon sale expressly describes what is being conveyed to the Respondent. It is "the following described real property situated in Washoe County, Nevada: See attached legal description". The legal description only describes the real property. The deed excludes the "all the improvements now or hereafter erected on the property" language found in the deed of trust. (Appendix Bates 114-116).

To summarize, NRS 104.610 (2) allows the collateral to be sold by one or more contracts, as a unit or in parcels and at any time and place. NRS 104.610(3) prohibits a secured creditor from buying the collateral at a sale unless (1) It is a public sale or (2) The collateral is of a kind that is customarily sold on a recognized market. NRS 104.9614 requires a notice of sale to be given that contains specified information before the collateral can be sold. These are all violations of the provisions contained in Section Six of Article Nine, which triggers the statutory damages in NRS 104.9625(3)(b).

In the alternative, should this Court find that the Respondent held no security interest in the FUQUA, then the Appellants' remedies fall under NRS 104.9625(1) and (2) which offer injunctive relief and actual damages. The damages for repossessing collateral without a security interest is governed by Nevada's law of conversion. Should this Court make a finding that Respondent held no security interest in the FUQUA when it foreclosed on the real property, then the matter should be remanded for a finding of actual damages based upon the Respondent's conversion of the FUQUA.

#### VII. Argument

# Issue 1 <u>THE DISTRICT COURT COMMITTED ERROR WHEN IT</u> FOUND THE RESPONDENT PROPERLY FORECLOSED ON THE PROPERTY, INCLUDING THE MANUFACTURED HOME.

#### A. <u>STANDARD OF REVIEW</u>

A district Court's findings of fact may not be disturbed on appeal if they are supported by substantial evidence. *Pandelis Const. Co. v. Jones-Viking Assocs.*, 103 Nev. 129, 130, 734 P.2d 1236, 1237 (1987). Substantial evidence is evidence that a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion. *Jones v. SunTrust Mortgage, Inc.*, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 18, 274 P.3d 762, (Nev. 2012).

Issues of statutory interpretation are questions of law reviewed de novo. *Coleman v. State*, 134 Nev. 218, 219, 416 P.3d 238, 240 (2018).

## B. <u>THE APPELLANTS WERE ENTITLED TO RECOVER</u> DAMAGES UNDER NRS 104.625(3)(B).

NRS 104.9610(1) says that after default, a secured party may dispose of any or all of the collateral. In other words, there is no requirement that all items of collateral be sold at the same time.

NRS 104.9610(2) confirms this fact by stating in relevant part that a secured party may dispose of collateral by one or more contracts, as a unit or in parcels, and at any time and place.

NRS 104.9610(2) also says every aspect of a disposition of collateral, including the method, manner, time, place and other terms, must be commercially reasonable.

NRS 104.9614(1) says that in a consumer goods transaction, the notification of disposition must provide the following information: . . .

NRS 104.9624 allows a debtor to waive the right to be notified of the disposition of collateral, but only by an agreement signed after default.

Drafter's comment No. 2 to NRS 104.9624 clarifies that §9-624 is a limited exception to §9-602's anti-waiver provisions. It also confirms that the statute's waiver provision makes no provision for waiver of the rule prohibiting a secured party from buying at its own private disposition. Transactions of this kind are equivalent to "strict foreclosures" and are governed by Sections 9-620 et. seq.

NRS 104.9610(3) restricts a secured party's right to purchase the collateral securing its loan. It may do so only at a public sale or at a private sale only if the collateral is of a kind that is customarily sold on a recognized market or the subject of widely distributed standard price quotations.

NRS 104.9625(3) sets forth the statutory damage formula that are available in consumer good transactions when a provision of Section Six of Article Nine is violated.

Statutory damages are designed to ensure that every noncompliance with the requirements of Part 6 in a consumer goods transaction results in liability, regardless of any injury

that may have resulted. See Drafter's comment No. 4 to NRS 104.9625. This means both liability and damages are proper for summary judgment.

Other courts have recognized that manufactured homes are personal property, and the secured creditor must pay statutory damages when the sale is not commercially reasonable. In *Erdmann v. Rants*, 442 N.W.2d 441, 443 (N.D. 1989), the secured creditor failed to notify the debtor of the intended disposition of a manufactured home. The Court applied the statutory damage formula. *Erdmann* was decided before the 1999 amendments to Article Nine. The Legislative History reflects that NRS 104.9625 is based upon UCC 9-\$507 which contained the same statutory damage formula. See *Erdmann* at 442 N.W. 2d 442, where UCC 9-\$507(1) is reprinted.

The statutory damage formula has been characterized as both a minimum civil penalty and a liquidated damages provision. Its appeal is that it requires no showing of actual loss.... This minimum civil penalty, quietly tucked away in a corner of the statute, is probably the most glittering nugget of consumer protection found in all of Article 9. *In re Schwalb*, 347 B.R. 726, 755 (Bkrtcy. D. Nev. 2006).

NRS 104.9102(1)(z) says that a consumer good transaction means a transaction to the extent that a natural person incurs an obligation primarily for personal, family or household purposes; a security interest secures the obligation; and the collateral is held or acquired primarily for personal, family or

household purposes. The term includes consumer-goods transactions.

Under the UCC, statutory minimum damages are computed by adding the "credit service charge" or "time price differential" (i.e., the finance charge) and ten (10%) percent of the "principal amount of debt" (i.e., amount financed) or "cash price." The statutory damages are based on the finance charge and the amount financed at the beginning of the transaction, not the interest and principal remaining due at the time of the violation. As a result, the statutory damages can be significant. <u>See</u>, e.g., *Muro v. Hermano's Auto Wholesalers, Inc.*, 514 F. Supp.2d 1343, 1352 (S.D. Fla. 2007) [statutory damages in excess of \$9,000.00]; *In Re: Koresko*, 91 B.R. 689 (Bkrpt. E.D. Penn. 1988) [statutory damages awarded in an amount of \$14,289.03 for lack of notice of sale with respect to a \$22,000.00 dollar vehicle].

Damages that are created by statute are subject to the three year statute of limitation contained in NRS 11.190(3). See *Torrealba v. Kesmetis*, 178 P.3d 716, 124 Nev. 95, (Nev. 2008). They are not subject to the two year statute for penalties found at NRS 11.190(4). The Court's rationale was that a penalty has been described as a punishment for an offense against the public not incident to the redress of a private wrong. In other words, the term penalty generally is construed to mean something other than damages or pecuniary loss. *Id* at 178 P.3d 723.

The sale of the FUQUA to Respondent took place on November 23, 2015, which is when the title was issued by the Department. Respondent filed its complaint on May 2, 2017. The

answer and counterclaim were filed by the Appellants on August 21, 2017. All claims against the Respondent were filed within two years.

NRS 104.9604(1)(b) says that when a security agreement covers both personal and real property, a secured party may proceed as to both the personal property and the real property in accordance with the rights with respect to the real property, in which case the other provisions of this part do not apply.

The record is clear. Respondent's notice of sale only mentions the real property. It does not mention the manufactured home anywhere (Appendix Bate 105). Exactly what was sold at the foreclosure sale is determined by the trustee's deed upon sale. This deed is the most important document in the record (Appendix Bates 114-116). The reason is that NRS 104.610(2) does not require all the collateral securing a loan to be sold at once. The collateral can be sold separately and at different times.

In this case, it must first be determined exactly what was sold at the April 23, 2012 trustee's sale. The answer lies in the trustee's deed upon sale. It contains a concise description of the property that was transferred. Only the real property was sold. No personal property was transferred (Appendix Bates 114-116) This is the relevant language:

RECONTRUST COMPANY, N.A., as the duly appointed Trustee, under a Deed of Trust referred to below, and herein called "Trustee", does hereby grant without covenant or warranty to: FEDERAL NATIONAL

MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION herein called Grantee, the following described real property situated in WASHOE County, Nevada:

#### SEE ATTACHED LEGAL DESCRIPTION:

The legal description of what was sold appears at Appendix Bate 116.

### Legal Description

PARCEL 4 OF PARCEL MAP 2908 ACCORDING TO THE MAP THEREOF, FILED IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER, WASHOE COUNTY, STATE OF NEVADA ON JUNE 2, 1995, AS FILE NO. 1897855, EXCEPT ALL THAT PORTION OF SAID LAND LYING WITHIN EL RANCHO DRIVE AS DEDICATED TO THE CITY OF SPARKS, BY "DEDICATION MAP OF MOORPARK COURT AND EL RANCHO DRIVE", RECORDED JUNE 28, 1999 AS DOCUMENT NO. 2355346, TRACT MAP NO. 3713

The sale or disposition of the FUQUA took place on November 23, 2015, which is when the Department issued a new title to Respondent showing it as the registered owner of the FUQUA with no lienholder (Appendix Bate 109).

To summarize, Respondent held a security interest in both 3705 Anthony Place and the FUQUA manufactured home. Pursuant to NRS 104.9610(2), the Respondent's loan was secured by two items of collateral. One was sold on April 23, 2012. The other was sold on November 23, 2015. The sale of the FUQUA violated numerous provisions of Section Six of Article Nine, which are described above. The counterclaim against Respondent was filed on August 21, 2017. Statutory damages must be awarded for any violation of Section Six of Article Nine,

regardless of actual damages. It was error for the District Court to deny Appellants' motion for summary judgment on that issue.

## Issue 2 <u>THE DISTRICT COURT COMMITTED ERROR BY</u> <u>DENYING THE APPELLANT'S CLAIM FOR</u> <u>CONVERSION OF THE MANUFACTURED HOME.</u>

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