IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

PATRICIA ANTHONY; and WILLIAM ANTHONY,

Appellants,

v.

FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION,

Respondent

Supreme Court Case No. 79284

Electronically Filed Jul 29 2020 05:22 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appeal from the Second Judicial District Court, Department VIII The Honorable Barry L. Breslow, District Judge District Court Case No. CV17-00843

RESPONDENT FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION'S ANSWERING BRIEF

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The court should affirm the district court's summary judgment order. The substantial evidence established that Fannie Mae obtained title to the property, which included two manufactured homes (the '96 Fuqua and a '97 Fuqua), connected to each other as a single family residence and connected to the Anthonys' land as permanent real property improvements, when it bought the property at the April 2012 foreclosure. (AER 435, 436). This finding was not challenged on appeal. It is determinative for the Anthonys' counterclaims concerning the disposition of the '96 Fuqua based on their contention that the '96 Fuqua was personal property, either secured or unsecured in the deed of trust. Thus, this court need not reach the Anthonys' arguments on appeal that Fannie Mae either violated the UCC or converted the '96 Fuqua in its post-judgment administrative actions with the Manufactured Housing Division November 2015.

The district court also found that the Anthonys' claims are barred by claim preclusion. (AER 438-439). This finding was also not challenged on appeal. (See AOB.). This court can affirm on this basis as well because the court's correct finding disposes of the Anthonys' counter claims concerning the disposition of the property, including the '96 Fuqua. The claims should have been brought in their unlawful detainer action, but were not.

///

Even assuming This court considers the Anthonys' claims on appeal, despite their failure to challenge the underlying determinative issue relevant to their claims,¹ This court can affirm the district court judgment based on the district court's alternative findings that: (1) even if the '96 Fuqua was personal property, the UCC did not apply where the deed of trust described the real property and personal property and the secured party elected its real property remedy (i.e., foreclosure); and (2) the claims were otherwise time-barred.

*First*, the evidence established that, assuming the '96 Fuqua was personal property, it was part of the collateral for the loan, it was described in the deed of trust as an improvement, and Fannie Mae elected to pursue its real property remedy via a non-judicial foreclosure in April 2012. (AER 436 ¶7, 437 ¶14). *Second*, the evidence established that the Anthonys' claims accrued at the foreclosure, or at the latest, in the unlawful detainer action in November 2012. The district court rejected the Anthonys' argument that the disposition of the property accrued in 2015 when Fannie Mae had the title changed to itself and converted the '96 Fuqua to real property. (*See* AER 437 ¶¶12-14).

///

¹ Fannie Mae does not abandon its argument that the claims are waived by the failure of the Anthonys to challenge the district court's finding. It addresses the Anthonys' arguments in the event this Court considers the arguments despite the Anthonys' waiver, over Fannie Mae's objection.

The Anthonys present no argument, evidence or authority showing the district court erred in granting summary judgment for Fannie Mae and against the Anthonys. This court should affirm the district court's judgment.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The district court entered both findings of fact and conclusions of law. As for legal conclusions, this court reviews de novo a district court's decision to grant summary judgment. *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). "Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings and other evidence on file demonstrate that no genuine issue as to any material fact remains and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." *Id.* (quotation and alteration omitted). "The substantive law controls which factual disputes are material and will preclude summary judgment; other factual disputes are irrelevant." *Id.* at 731, 121 P.3d at 1031.

As to the trial court's findings of fact, such findings can be set aside only when clearly erroneous and unsupported by substantial evidence. *Pandelis Constr. Co. v. Jones-Viking Assoc.*, 103 Nev. 129, 734 P.2d 1236 (1987). The labels the district court assigns to its conclusions do not definitively establish the appropriate standard of review. *See Bowman v. Tisnado*, 442 P.2d 899, 900 (Nev. 1968).

Unless a point of error is properly raised in the district court, this court will decline to address such a point of error because it has not been preserved in the court

below. *Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown,* 97 Nev. 49, 52 623 P.2d 981 (1981) ("A point not urged in the trial court, unless it goes to the jurisdiction of that court, is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal."); *see also In Re Amerco,* 127 Nev. 196, 217, n. 6, 252 P.3d 681, 697, n. 6 (2011) (declining to consider an issue raised for the first time on appeal).

#### ARGUMENT

# A. The Anthonys' opening brief establishes no prejudicial error; the district court correctly granted summary judgment for Fannie Mae and against the Anthonys' counterclaims

The opening brief makes no showing to overturn the judgment. *Consol. Generator-Nevada, Inc. v. Cummins Engine Co.,* 114 Nev. 1304, 1311, 971 P.2d 1251, 1256 (1998) (appellants' burden to present authority or facts on which to base its claim that issues were improperly decided on summary judgment). This court need not consider conclusory arguments which fail to address the issues in the case. *Id.; see also Edwards v. Emperor's Garden Restaurant*,122 Nev. 317, 330 n.38, 130 P.3d 1280, 1288 n.38 (2006) (It is the parties' responsibility to cogently argue, and present relevant authority, in support of their arguments." (internal quotations omitted)).

The Anthonys identify no triable issue of fact that the '96 Fuqua, connected to the '97 Fuqua and to Anthonys' land, was anything but real property sold at the April 2012 foreclosure. This finding by the district court was supported by substantial evidence in the record and not disputed on appeal. (See AER 435 ¶¶3, 4, 436 ¶7). The substantial evidence at the trial court also established the Anthonys knew about the 2012 foreclosure and that Fannie Mae claimed title and possession of the entire property, including the attached '96 Fuqua, stemming from the 2012 sale, in November 2012 at the latest. (AER 436 ¶¶7, 9, 10). When the burden of production and persuasion shifted to them on summary judgment, they failed to set forth specific facts supported by admissible evidence demonstrating the existence of a genuine fact about the nature of the '96 Fuqua, connected to the other manufactured home as a single family residence, and permanently affixed to the land, when Fannie Mae sold its security for the defaulted loan at the April 2012 foreclosure sale.

The Anthonys must meet this burden on de novo review that a triable issue of fact existed. They fail to do so. The district court correctly determined that Fannie Mae obtained the '96 Fuqua — both connected to the '97 Fuqua and permanently affixed to the land securing the loan — at the nonjudicial foreclosure sale occasioned by the Anthonys' loan default. (*Id.*). The Anthonys did not challenge the district court's finding on appeal, and did not challenge the dismissal based on claim preclusion, thus waiving any challenges. *Bongiovi v. Sullivan*, 122 Nev. 556, 570 n. 5, 138 P.3d 433, 444 n. 5 (2006) (Issues not raised in their opening brief are considered waived); *Kahn v. Morse & Mowbray*, 121 Nev. 464, 480, 117 P.3d 227,

238 (2005); *see also* NRAP 28(a)(8); *see also Edwards v. Emperor's Garden Rest.*, 122 Nev. 317, 329–30, 130 P.3d 1280, 1287–88 (2006) (appellant failed to address in his briefs the district court's dismissal of claims related to the issues presented on appeal, thereby "neglect[ing] his responsibility to cogently argue, and present relevant authority, in support of his appellate concerns. Thus, we need not consider these claims.").

# 1. The district court correctly found that the '96 Fuqua was a real property improvement described in the deed of trust

As noted above, the Anthonys do not challenge the district court's finding that the '96 Fuqua, connected to a second manufactured home, a '97 Fuqua to form one single family home, and permanently attached to the land, was a real property improvement described in the deed of trust. (See AOB). On this basis, the district court found Fannie Mae obtained title to the property, including the '96 Fuqua, at the foreclosure sale. (AER 436 ¶7). The Anthonys failure to challenge this finding on appeal constitutes a waiver of any claim of error. *Edwards v. Emperor's Garden Rest.*, 122 Nev. 317, 329–30, 130 P.3d 1280, 1287–88 (2006) (appellant failed to address in his briefs the district court's dismissal of claims related to the issues presented on appeal, thereby "neglect[ing] his responsibility to cogently argue, and present relevant authority, in support of his appellate concerns. Thus, we need not consider these claims."). Assuming arguendo this court considers the district court's ruling that the '96 Fuqua was a real property improvement under the deed of trust, this court can nevertheless affirm.

Real property is defined as "coextensive with lands, tenements and hereditaments." NRS § 10.075. In the "ordinary use 'land' or 'lands' not only mean the soil but everything attached thereto as well, the trees, shrubs, buildings and fixtures." *Bruno v. City of Long Branch*, 35 N.J. Super. 304, 311, 114 A.2d 273, 277 (App. Div. 1955), *aff'd*, 21 N.J. 68, 120 A.2d 760 (1956). "Land is something distinct from the buildings, fences, and other improvements placed thereon by man's work, whereas real property is all-inclusive and contemplates both land and improvements." *Krouser v. San Bernardino County*, 178 P.2d 441, 29 Cal.2d 766.

This court has found that "the term 'improvements' in the broad sense includes buildings and fixtures of all kinds." *Flyge v. Flynn*, 63 Nev. 201, 229, 166 P.2d 539, 551 (1946) (internal quotations omitted). Improvement to real property has been defined as "a permanent addition to or betterment of real property that enhances its capital value and that involves the expenditure of labor or money and is designed to make the property more useful or valuable as distinguished from ordinary repairs." *Integrity Floorcovering, Inc. v. Brona-Nutone, LLC.,* 521 F 3d 914, 917-918 (8th Cir. Minn. 2008). "Relevant criteria for determining what constitutes an improvement to real property include: whether the addition was meant to be permanent or temporary; whether it became an integral component of the overall

system; whether the value of the property was increased; and whether the use of the property was enhanced." 2 Tiffany Real Prop. § 606 (3d ed.).

There is no genuine issue of material fact that the deed of trust described the trust property as land with the address of 3705 Anthony Place, Sun Valley, Nevada, 89433 and the improvements and fixtures attached on it. (*See* AER 204 ¶G, 205). Applying the factors from *Integrity Floorcovering, Inc.* and Tiffany Real Property, the '96 Fuqua was a permanent real property improvement.

- Both manufactured homes, attached to each other, and to the land, are permanent improvements to the real property by removal of the tongue, groove, wheels, and hitch. And they are attached to each other and placed on a pier foundation, with crawl space, attached utilities and a porch. (AER 177-201).
- 2) The '96 Fuqua is inseparable from the '97 Fuqua. It is permanently attached by the removal of an exterior wall to allow the two units to exist as a single-family home, and one can easily move within the two units into different rooms of the units without exiting either unit. There is only one physical address. (AER 179-201 [Ex. 5]). The units cannot be separated without physically detaching the '96 Fuqua from the '97 Fuqua, replacing the hitch, tongue and groove and removing a portion of the porch and utilities from the foundation for just that portion of the single-family home.

3) The single-family home enhances the capital value of the land. The Anthonys state they bought the unimproved land for \$40,000 in 1994. (AER 262 ¶1.) The appraisal shows the value of the entire property increased to \$270,000 in 2002 by adding and affixing the large home that was built in 1999 and purchased in 2000 to the unimproved lot. (*See* AER 178, 184). The Anthonys agree the manufactured homes were improvements to the property and they expended at least \$203,287 on the improvements. (AER 262 ¶4). The property is useful as a family home and is in an area with other single-family residences. (*See* AER 180-201). The '96 Fuqua enhanced the total value of the property by increasing the square footage and adding rooms and space to the home.

Courts have applied a similar analysis to a manufactured home made permanent and not servable from the land on which it rests. *Griswell v. Columbus Fin. Co.*, 220 Ga. App. 803, 803, 470 S.E.2d 256, 257 (1996) (holding mobile homes are personal property, not real property, *except* mobile homes permanently attached to realty as here); *Matter of Colver*, 13 B.R. 521, 524–525 (Bankr. D. Nev. 1981) (mobile homes not severable from the land are real property). In *Matter of Colver*, the court looked to these factors to determine whether the mobile home was real property: (1) whether the creditor had a security interest in the land on which the mobile home was situated or only for the purchase of the mobile home; (2) how the creditor sought to enforce his remedies (i.e., the creditor's intent); (3) whether the mobile home was on owned property or leased space; and (4) whether the mobile home was made permanent or remained mobile. *Id*.

The court found the mobile home in *Matter of Colver* was personal property. How so? Because, unlike here with Fannie Mae, the creditor there had an installment contract for the purchase *only* of the mobile home, it sued for replevin (no foreclosure involved), and the mobile home was in a park where space was leased and the mobile home could readily be replaced with wheels.

Applying the same factors analyzed in *Matter of Colver* to the '96 Fuqua here even more forcefully supports the district court's finding that the '96 Fuqua is real property. Fannie Mae has a deed of trust and promissory note for the land and the improvements on the land. (*See* 177-201, 171-176, 203). It is not a note for the purchase of either manufactured home. Fannie Mae exercised its rights to recover its security interest by proceeding with a judicial foreclosure, establishing that it considered the '96 Fuqua to be real property. (AER 217). Both manufactured homes, attached and connected to each other, were also attached and made permanent to the Anthonys' land by the removal of the tongue and groove, wheels, the hitch, and placing utilities, crawl space, a porch and placed on a pier foundation. (AER 179-201).

The attributes of the '96 Fuqua are in stark contrast to the attributes noted in *Matter of Colver* that moved that court to conclude that the mobile home at issue was personalty. The '96 Fuqua is not an independent unit that can be moved by the replacement of the wheels. It is inseparable from the '97 Fuqua. (AER 187). It is permanently attached by the removal of a portion of two exterior walls to allow the two homes to exist as a single-family home. (*Id.*).One can easily move into different rooms within the attached units and without exiting either. (*Id.*).It has a single address. (AER 193). The units cannot be separated without physical damage to each unit; the hitch, tongue, and groove would require substantial reinstallment, and the porch and utilities removed from one portion of the single-family home that supports both connected units. (*See* AER 185, 187).

The Anthonys' reliance on *Erdmann v. Rants*, 442 441, 443 (N.D. 1989), for the proposition that manufactured homes are personal property and a secured creditor must pay statutory damages where a sale is not commercially reasonable does not help them. (*See* AOB at 12). In *Erdmann*, there was no dispute concerning the characterization of the mobile home. Unlike the '96 Fuqua here, permanently attached to a second manufactured home and made permanent to the land as a real property improvement, the parties in *Erdmann* did not dispute that the mobile home was a consumer good. The secured creditor was enforcing a loan made for the purchase of the mobile home and the parties had entered contract for sale of the mobile home itself. The mobile home had been repossessed and abandoned and sold to other parties. The court in *Erdmann* awarded damages for the sale of the mobile home, even though the court found the sale was commercially reasonable, because the debtor did not have notice. *Erdmann v. Rants*, 442 N.W.2d at 443. *Erdmann* is completely inapplicable to the issues here.

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